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1. Non Technical Summary

Two evaluation trenches were opened within gardens to the rear of ‘Wildgoose Chase’, Broad Street, Weobley, located within the footprint of the proposed new dwelling.  Cartographic evidence shows that the site had previously been occupied by four narrow burgage plots shown on the Weobley tithe map of 1838, which were subsequently cleared in the mid-19th century when the site was converted into an orchard.

Evidence of an accumulation of post-medieval garden soils was noted in Trench 1, disturbed by modern landscaping activity.  Natural deposits were observed at a shallow depth, occurring at 0.5m at the E end of the trench and gradually deepening towards the W end of the trench.

A significant accumulation of garden soils and a number of rubbish pits of probable post-medieval date were encountered within Trench 2, reflecting the usage of the area as garden plots lying to the rear of the burgage properties which previously occupied the site as shown on the Weobley tithe map of 1838 and were demolished in the mid 1840s. 

These garden soils were evidently of considerable depth, extending down to the base of the trench. No significant archaeology was discovered.
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2. Introduction

Border Archaeology was instructed by Mr & Mrs Lloyd of ‘Wildgoose Chase’, Broad Street, Weobley, Herefordshire, to undertake a programme of archaeological evaluation in regard of the proposed development to the rear of the property (Fig. 1), the criteria for which were outlined by Julian Cotton, Archaeological Adviser Herefordshire Council.

Copies of this report will be sent to Mr & Mrs Lloyd, Herefordshire Archaeology and the county Sites & Monuments Record.
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Fig. 1: Site Location Map

2.1 Soils & Geology

The site consists of typical argillic brown earths of the ESCRICK 1 series (571p), these being deep well drained reddish coarse loamy soils, some similar soils with slowly permeable subsoils & slight seasonal waterlogging and some slowly permeable seasonally waterlogged reddish fine silty soils. The underlying geology consists of a reddish till.
3. Historical & Archaeological Background

The origins of settlement at Weobley can be traced back to before the Norman Conquest.  The earliest documented reference occurs in the Domesday Survey of 1086, which records that the manor of ‘Wibelai’ (a place name of OE origin meaning ‘Wiobba’s clearing’) was held before the Conquest by Edwy Cild and was then valued at 100s (Thorn & Thorn, 1983, 184d).  

By 1086, the manor of Weobley had come into the hands of the prominent Marcher lord Roger de Lacy and it was probably Roger or his son Hugh de Lacy who built Weobley Castle in the early 12th century, which thereafter functioned as the caput or administrative centre of the de Lacy estates in Herefordshire.  It has been suggested that Bell Square could represent the centre of the pre-Conquest settlement, prior to the establishment of a planned urban settlement at Weobley.
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Fig.2: Extract from a reproduction of the tithe map of Weobley (1838) showing the ‘vote houses’ situated on the E side of Broad Street to the S of the Old Corner House
The foundation of the borough of Weobley is not accurately dated (due to the lack of a borough charter) but documentary evidence suggests that a planned urban settlement was established there by the early to mid-13th century.  Weobley received a royal confirmation of an annual fair in 1231 and a weekly market by 1261, and shops are documented in the borough in 1294 (Dalwood, 1996, 2; Salt, 1954, 11, 19).  The focal point of the planned medieval borough of Weobley was evidently the triangular market place in Broad Street to the N of the castle, which is defined on either side by blocks containing regularly distributed narrow burgage strips, as shown on the Weobley tithe map of 1838.  

Weobley appears to have escaped the depredations of the Welsh during the revolt of Owain Glyndŵr in the early 15th century, unlike many other Marcher towns, which may account for its relative prosperity during the late medieval and early post-medieval period, attested by the survival of a significant number of timber-framed buildings ranging in date from the late 14th to the early 17th centuries (Dalwood, 1996, 7; Noble, 1964, 69).  

The Tudor antiquarian John Leland, writing in about 1540, noted that Weobley still flourished as a market town, while the historian William Camden commented in 1586 that Weobley ‘had more fair cellars than most market towns of its bigness in England’.  In 1628, the borough was re-enfranchised and returned members of parliament until it was disenfranchised as a parliamentary borough by the Reform Act of 1832 (Hillaby, 1967, 105-6).

By the late 17th century, the urban settlement at Weobley was experiencing a marked decline in prosperity, which intensified throughout the 18th century.  A contemporary observer, Richard Blome, writing in 1698, commented that Weobley ‘formerly enjoyed a good trade which is of late less considerable by the growth of its neighbouring town, Kington’ (O’Donnell, 1971, 191). This economic decline is corroborated by the architectural evidence for a decline in the quality of mid-late 17th century buildings in Weobley and the almost complete absence of any new buildings in the town of 18th-19th century date (Dalwood, 1996, 8).

Documentary evidence suggests that Weobley had ceased to be a town in all but name by the early 19th century.  The disenfranchisement of the borough as a result of the 1832 Reform Act led to many of the burgage or ‘vote houses’ held by the lord of the manor, the Marquess of Bath, falling into disuse, although census returns indicate that some of the vote houses in Broad Street continued to be occupied until as late as 1841.  Consequently, in 1844-45, the Marquess of Bath instructed his agent to pull down the majority of the ‘vote houses’ and up to 84 buildings were demolished (Leather, 1926, 174).  The foundations and paving stones associated with these structures were still visible on the E side of Broad Street as late as 1926 (Leather, 1926, 175).

3.2 Site Specific Information

The earliest detailed map information for the site is provided by the Weobley tithe map of 1838 (Fig. 2), which shows that the development area occupies the W end of a series of four narrow burgage plots (listed as Nos.693-696 in the tithe apportionment).  Although the tithe map shows several buildings constructed at the E end of the burgage plots fronting onto Broad Street (demolished in 1844-45), a large area to the rear of these buildings is shown as devoid of buildings and was presumably utilised as gardens.

By 1887, as shown on the OS 1st edition 25 inch map (Herefordshire 25.3), the houses occupying the street frontage of Plot Nos. 693-96 had been completely cleared and the burgage strip boundaries as shown on the 1838 tithe map had also been removed, to create a single, roughly rectangular plot of land (marked as Plot No. 354) which had been converted to use as an orchard by that date.  This plot, covering an area of 0.890 acres (0.360 ha), is still depicted as orcharding on the OS 2nd edition 25-inch map of 1905; however the OS provisional edition 6 inch map of 1948 shows that a narrow strip of land along the N edge of the orchard was enclosed and apparently cleared of trees by that date.

4. Methodology

Full written, drawn and photographic records were made in accordance with archaeological practices set out in Standard and Guidance for archaeological field evaluation (Institute of Field Archaeologists 1994; rev. 2001); Border Archaeology adhered to the IFA’s Code of conduct and Code of approved practice for the regulation of contractual arrangements in field archaeology.

A stratigraphic record was made using a context numbering system. Archaeological deposits, features and structures were recorded in plan & section at a scale of 1:20. Features were photographed using a high-resolution 10.3 MPX digital camera.  

Two evaluation trenches were opened in specified locations within the footprint of the proposed new building. Trench 1 was orientated approximately E-W and measured 10m x 1.50m. Natural deposits were identified at a minimum depth of 0.50m below present ground level at the E end of the trench, gradually deepening towards the W end of the trench.  Trench 2, measuring 5m × 1.50m, was orientated approximately N-S and was excavated to a depth of 1.20m below present ground level.   No natural deposits were encountered within this trench.

All spoil and removed material were visually scanned for artefacts, which were recorded and, where appropriate, retained. 

A temporary benchmark was established on the site with a value of 98.35m AOD.
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Fig. 3: Trench location plan

5. Evaluation results
5.3 Trench 1

[image: image5.png]96.83

97.04 (1005)

97.36

97.41 ‘

|97.11

(1005)

| 98.28

=z





Fig 4. Plan and S-facing section of Trench 1

Trench 1 was orientated roughly E-W and measured 10m × 1.5m (Fig. 4; Plate 1).  A total of thirteen contexts was revealed within the trench, the uppermost of which (1012) was a moderately compacted silty clay topsoil deposit extending > 5.80m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) to a maximum depth of 0.32m. 

Cutting (1012) was a rectilinear cut [1013], measuring >4.20m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 0.34m deep. This cut represented an area of modern paving laid down during the last thirty years. Three distinct fills were identified within [1013]. The primary fill laid down as an initial levelling deposit consists of a moderately compacted, dark blackish brown sandy silt (1003) and extends >4.20m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 0.22m in thickness. Overlying (1003) was the secondary fill (1002), consisting of a grey concrete deposit measuring >5m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 0.10m, laid down as a sub-base for (1001), which comprised concrete paving slabs extending >4.20m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 60mm. 
Underlying (1012) was (1004), which consisted of a friable mid-brown silty sand with occasional charcoal and CBM flecking and moderate small rounded and sub-angular stones and very occasional post-medieval ceramic sherds. (1004) was interpreted as a garden soil deposit of post-medieval date and extended trench-wide up to a maximum thickness of 0.80m.
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Plate 1. W-facing section of Trench 1

Underlying (1004) was (1005) which consisted of a moderate to well compacted, reddish brown silty clay with frequent mid-sized sub-angular and rounded stones, interpreted as natural deposition (Plate 2). This deposit was observed to slope steadily E-W across the trench, occurring at a depth of 0.50m below ground level at the E end of the trench, deepening to 0.90m towards the centre and then gradually petering out towards the W end of the trench. Cutting (1005) were three post-medieval planting holes; [1006], [1008] and [1010]. These features appeared as irregular sub-circular cuts all measuring approximately 0.80m x 0.70m x 0.15m (Fig. 5). 

Filling these sub-circular cuts were (1007), (1009) and (1011).  All three fills consisted of a loose to moderately compacted, mid to dark brown silty clay with occasional to moderate small sub-angular stones and very occasional charcoal flecking. Fill (1007) also contained a single fragment of animal bone. It is likely that these features relate to the establishment of an orchard on the site in the mid 19th century, which is shown on the OS 1st edition 25 inch map of 1887.
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Fig 5. Plan showing planting holes located in Trench 1
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Plate 2. Post-ex view of Trench 1 looking E
5.4 Trench 2

Trench 2 was orientated roughly N-S and measured 5m (N-S) x 1.50m (E-W). The trench revealed twelve contexts in total, the uppermost of which was topsoil deposit (2001), which comprised a friable, mid to dark brown sandy silt containing frequent small rounded stones and occasional post-medieval ceramic sherds. This deposit extended trench-wide up to a maximum thickness of 0.30m.
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Plate 3: E facing section of Trench 2

Underlying (2001) was subsoil deposit (2002), consisting of a friable, light greyish brown sandy silt with occasional small rounded stones and post-medieval (18th-19th century) CBM fragments, which extended trench-wide to a maximum thickness of 0.30m.  Subsoil deposit (2002) in turn overlaid (2003), comprising a loose to moderately compacted, dark greyish brown silty clay with very frequent (70%) charcoal fragments and flecking and moderate post-medieval ceramic sherds. This deposit extended trench-wide to a maximum thickness of 0.12m and was interpreted as post-medieval garden soil.

Deposit (2003) in turn overlaid a moderate to well compacted, pinkish brown sandy silt with frequent small rounded pebbles, (2004), extending 2.60m (N-S) x >0.51m (E-W) and measuring up to 0.10m in thickness. This deposit appears as a thin lense and forms part of the post-medieval soil build up at this end of the plot.  Underlying (2004) was (2005), a moderately compacted, mid greyish brown sandy silt with occasional (10%) charcoal flecking, moderate post-medieval ceramic sherds, animal bone and small sub-angular stones extending trench-wide up to a max thickness of 0.40m, which was interpreted as relating to post-medieval occupation on the site.
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Plate 4: Post-ex view of Trench 2 looking S

Underlying (2005) was a post-medieval soil deposit, (2008). This consisted of a moderately compacted, dark blackish brown sandy silt with moderate (50%) charcoal flecking and moderate post-medieval (18th-19th century) ceramic sherds extending >5m (N-S) x 1m (E-W) up to a maximum thickness of 0.36m. 

Cutting (2008) were two sub-ovoid cuts, [2006] and [2009].  [2006] was orientated roughly N-S and measured 0.80m (N-S) x 0.42m (E-W) x 0.13m.  Filling [2006] was (2007), a loosely compacted, blackish grey brown silty sand with frequent charcoal flecking and post-medieval ceramic sherds and occasional animal bones and small sub-angular stones.  [2009] was orientated roughly E-W and measured 1.50m (E-W) x 0.70m (N-S) x 0.26m.  Filling [2009] was (2010), a loosely compacted, greyish brown sandy silt with frequent charcoal flecking and occasional ceramic sherds of 18th-19th century date. Features [2006] and [2009] appear to be rubbish pits associated with post-medieval occupation.
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Fig. 5. Plan and N and S-facing sections of Trench 2

Underlying (2008) was (2011), consisting of a moderate to well compacted, mid yellowish brown silty clay with frequent small sub-angular stones and occasional charcoal flecking, which measured 2.50m (N-S) x 1.10m (E-W) x >0.70m and was interpreted as a post-medieval garden soil deposit. Underlying (2011) was (2012) which consisted of a moderate to well compacted, mid brown silty clay containing very occasional charcoal flecking and CBM fragments (including two fragments of green glazed tile of probable late medieval date) and extended to the base of the trench. It was not possible to determine the full extent of this deposit, which continued below the designated excavation depth of 1.20m.

6. Conclusion

The excavation of two trenches in gardens to the rear of ‘Wildgoose Chase’ produced evidence of post-medieval occupation, but little evidence of earlier activity.

Within Trench 1, evidence of an accumulation of post-medieval garden soils was noted, which had clearly been disturbed by recent landscaping activity.  Natural deposits were observed at a shallow depth, occurring at 0.50m at the E end of the trench and gradually deepening towards the W end of the trench.

A significant accumulation of garden soils and a number of rubbish pits of probable post-medieval date were encountered within Trench 2, reflecting the prolonged usage of the area as garden plots lying to the rear of the burgage properties which previously occupied the site as shown on the Weobley tithe map of 1838.  

These properties were subsequently demolished as part of the clearance of the Marquis of Bath’s ‘vote houses’ in Weobley during the mid-1840s.  The garden soils were clearly of considerable depth, extending down to the base of the trench, and two ceramic fragments of medieval date were encountered in the lowest observed deposit (2012).

7. Copyright

Border Archaeology shall retain full copyright of any commissioned reports, tender documents or other project documents, under the Copyright, Designs & Patents Act 1988 with all rights reserved; excepting that it hereby provides an exclusive licence to the client for the use of the report by the client in all matters directly relating to the project as described in the Project Specification.
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10. Context Register

	CONTEXT
	DESCRIPTION

	Trench 1
	

	(1001)
	Area of grey concrete slabs measuring >4.20m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 60mm. Overlies (1002) and fills [1013].

	INTERPRETATION
	Concrete slabs forming modern paved area.

	(1002)
	Grey concrete deposit measuring up to 100mm in thickness. Underlies (1001) and fills [1013].

	INTERPRETATION
	Sub-base for (1001). 

	(1003)
	Moderately compacted dark blackish brown sandy silt. Deposit extends >4.20 E-W x >1.50m x 0.22m thick. Underlies (1002) and fills [1013].

	INTERPRETATION
	Modern garden soil deposit or levelling layer.

	(1004)
	Friable mid-brown silty sand with moderate small rounded and sub-angular stones, occasional charcoal and CBM flecking and v occasional post-medieval pot. Deposit extends trench-wide to a max thickness of 0.70m. Underlies (1012) and overlies (1005). 

	INTERPRETATION
	Post-medieval garden soil deposit.

	(1005)
	Moderate to well compacted reddish brown silty clay with freq mid-sized sub-angular stones. Deposit extends trench-wide. Underlies (1004). 

	INTERPRETATION
	Natural deposition

	[1006]
	Sub-ovoid cut.  Visible dimensions 0.74m (N-S) × 0.79m (E-W) × 0.18m, sharp break of slope at top, irregular sides, moderate to sharp break of slope at the base, uneven base slightly concave.  Cuts (1005).  Filled by (1007).

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut of tree bole/planting hole probably relating to establishment of orchard on site in the mid-late 19th century.

	(1007)
	Loose to moderately compacted, mid to dark brown silty clay with moderate small sub-angular stones, 3% charcoal flecking and v occasional animal bone. Underlies (1004) and fills [1006].

	INTERPRETATION
	Fill of [1006].

	[1008]
	Sub-circular cut.  Visible dimensions 0.72m (E-W) × 0.60m (N-S) × 0.13m, sharp break of slope at top, irregular sides, sharp break of slope at the base, uneven base slightly concave.  Cuts (1005).  Filled by (1009).

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut of tree bole/planting hole probably relating to establishment of orchard on site in the mid-late 19th century.

	(1009)
	Loose to moderately compacted, mid to dark brown silty clay with moderate small sub-angular stones and 2% charcoal flecking. Underlies (1004) and fills [1008].

	INTERPRETATION
	Fill of [1008].

	[1010]
	Sub-circular cut.  Visible dimensions 0.80m (E-W) × 0.60m (N-S) × 0.19m, sharp break of slope at top, steeply sloping sides concave in places, moderate to sharp break of slope at the base, uneven base slightly concave.  Cuts (1005) and (1007).  Filled by (1011).

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut of tree bole/planting hole probably relating to establishment of orchard on site in the mid-late 19th century.

	(1011)
	Loosely compacted, mid to dark brown silty clay with moderate small sub-angular stones. Underlies (1004) and fills [1010].

	INTERPRETATION
	Fill of [1010].

	(1012)
	Moderately compacted, dark blackish brown silty clay. Deposit extends >5.80m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 0.32m. Overlies (1004) and cut by [1013].

	INTERPRETATION
	Topsoil deposit.

	[1013]
	Rectilinear cut measuring >4.20m (E-W) x >1.50m (N-S) x 0.34m deep, sharp break of slope at top, vertical sides, sharp break of slope at base, base flat.  Cuts (1012). Filled by (1001), (1002), (1003)

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut for paved surface (1001).

	Trench 2
	

	(2001)
	Friable, mid to dark brown sandy silt with freq small rounded stones and occasional post-med ceramic sherds. Deposit extends trench-wide up to a max thickness of 0.30m. Overlies (2002). 

	INTERPRETATION
	Topsoil deposit.

	(2002)
	Friable, light greyish brown sandy silt with occasional small rounded stones and CBM fragments. . Deposit extends trench-wide up to a max thickness of 0.30m. Underlies (2001), overlies (2003).

	INTERPRETATION
	Subsoil.

	(2003)
	Friable, dark greyish brown silty clay with 70% charcoal flecking and moderate post-medieval ceramic sherds. Deposit extends trench-wide up to a max thickness of 0.12m. Underlies (2002), overlies (2004).

	INTERPRETATION
	Post-medieval soil deposit.

	(2004)
	Moderate to well compacted, pinkish brown sandy silt with frequent small rounded pebbles. Deposit extends 2.60m (N-S) x >0.51m (E-W) x 0.10m. Underlies (2003), overlies (2005).  

	INTERPRETATION
	Thin lense forming part of post-medieval ground build-up. 

	(2005)
	Moderately compacted, sandy silt with 10% charcoal flecking, moderate ceramic sherds animal bone and v small sub-angular stones. Deposit extends trench-wide to a max thickness of 0.40m. Underlies (2004) and overlies (2006). 

	INTERPRETATION
	Post-medieval soil deposit.

	[2006]
	Sub-ovoid cut.  Visible dimensions 0.80m (N-S) × 0.42m (E-W) × 0.13m, sharp break of slope at top, irregular sides (slightly concave), moderate to sharp break of slope at the base, uneven base slightly concave. Orientated roughly N-S.  Cuts (2008).  Filled by (2007).

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut of post-medieval rubbish pit.

	(2007)
	Loosely compacted, grey blackish brown silty sand with frequent charcoal flecking and post-medieval ceramic sherds and occasional animal bone and small rounded stones. Underlies (2005) and fills [2006].

	INTEPRETATION
	Fill of [2006].

	(2008)
	Moderately compacted, dark blackish brown sandy silt with 50% charcoal flecking and moderate ceramic sherds. Deposit overlies (2011) and is cut by [2006] and [2009].

	INTERPRETATION
	Post-medieval garden soil.

	[2009]
	Sub-ovoid cut.  Visible dimensions 1.50m (E-W) × 0.70m (N-S) × 0.26m, sharp break of slope at top, steeply sloping on s-facing side, moderate on n-facing sides, moderate to sharp break of slope at the base, uneven base slightly sloping.  Cuts (2008).  Filled by (2010).

	INTERPRETATION
	Cut of post-medieval rubbish pit.

	(2010)
	Loose to moderately compacted, greyish brown sandy silt with frequent charcoal flecking and occasional post-medieval ceramic sherds. Underlies (2005) and fills [2009].

	INTERPRETATION
	Fill of [2009].

	(2011)
	Moderate to well compacted, mid yellowish brown silty clay with frequent small sub-angular stones and 5% charcoal flecking. Deposits visible extent 2.50m (N-S) x 1.10m (E-W) x 0.37m in thickness.  Underlies (2008) and overlies (2012).

	INTERPRETATION
	Soil deposit forming part of post-medieval garden soil build up.

	(2012)
	Moderate to well compacted, mid brown silty clay with 2% charcoal and brick flecking and occasional medieval ceramics (green glazed tile fragments) Underlies (2011).

	INTERPRETATION
	Garden soil deposit of medieval/[post-medieval date
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